THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

RECEIVED
FEB 05 2020
SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Robert E. Hood, Circuit Court Judge

C.A. No.: 2019-CP-40-04931
Appellate Case No. 2019 - 001624

Nancy Miramonti,

Respondent,

v.

Richland County School District One, a body politic and corporate; and the
Board of Commissioners of Richland County School District One,

Appellants.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Eugene H. Matthews, S.C. Bar No. 10193
RICHARDSON PLOWDEN & ROBINSON, P.A.
Post Office Drawer 7788
Columbia, South Carolina 29202
T: (803) 771-4400
F: (803) 779-0016
E-mail: gmatthews@RichardsonPlowden.com

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On September 4, 2019, Respondent commenced this action by filing a Summons and Complaint, against Appellants, Richland County School District One (hereinafter “the District”) and the Richland County School District One Board of Commissioners (hereinafter “the Board”). In the Complaint, Respondent alleged two (2) causes of action against the Board and District.

- The first claim sought (1) a Declaratory Judgment that the Board violated the South Carolina Freedom of Information Act (hereinafter referenced as “FOIA”) by discussing a citizen complaint letter in executive session, and (2) an injunction from “further violations of the open meeting requirements” of FOIA.
- The second claim sought (a) a Declaratory Judgment that the Board violated FOIA because it “took action in issuing the response letter based on those same discussions in executive session,” and (2) an order “requiring the Richland One [*sic*] and the School Board to adhere to the lawful requirements for holding open meetings.”
- Respondent also sought attorney’s fees and costs of bringing the action.

(Rec. on App., p. 90, ¶¶ 17-26).

On September 13, 2019, the Court conducted a hearing on this matter pursuant to §30-4-100(A).¹ (Rec. on App., p. 121-161).

¹ S.C. Code Ann. § 30-4-100(A) provides as follows: “A citizen of the State may apply to the circuit court for a declaratory judgment, injunctive relief, or both, to enforce the provisions of this chapter in appropriate cases if the application is made no later than one year after the date of the alleged violation or one year after a public vote in public session, whichever comes later. Upon the filing of the request for declaratory judgment or injunctive relief related to provisions of this chapter, the chief administrative judge of the circuit court must schedule an initial hearing within ten days of the service on all parties. If the hearing court is unable to make a final ruling at the initial hearing, the court shall establish a scheduling order to conclude actions brought pursuant to this chapter within six months of initial filing. The court may extend this time period upon a showing of good cause. The court may order equitable relief as it considers appropriate, and a violation of this chapter must be considered to be an irreparable injury for which no adequate remedy at law exists.”

On September 18, 2019, the Court issued an Order granting relief to Respondent.

Specifically, the Order found as follows:

- The Court declared that the Appellants' "going into executive session to discuss the Letter" was improper and in violation of FOIA, and enjoined them from further such violations.
- The Court declared that the conduct of the Appellants "in taking action on the Letter in executive session" was invalid and in violation of FOIA, and enjoined them from further such violations.
- The Court ordered the Appellants to "consider the Letter complaint at their next regular meeting or special meeting and dispose of the matter according to their best judgment, in a public setting."
- The Court ordered the Appellants to pay Respondent's attorney's fees of four thousand two hundred dollars (\$4,200.00) and costs of three hundred sixty-six dollars and eighty-two cents (\$366.82).

(Rec. on App., p 12-13).

On September 20, 2019, Appellants filed a Motion to Alter and/or Amend the Court's Order. The motion included an affidavit authored by the District's General Counsel, Ms. Susan Williams, which explained in greater detail the reasons the legal advice was rendered to the Board in executive session on August 13, 2019. (Rec. on App., p 20-31).

On September 23, 2019, Respondent submitted a response to Appellants' Motion to Alter and/or Amend. (Rec. on App., p 16-19) Appellants responded with a letter to the Court. (Rec. on App., p. 15).

On September 24, 2019, the Court denied Appellants' Motion to Alter and/or Amend. (Rec. on App., p. 1). On the same date, Appellants served Respondents with the Notice of Appeal.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

This case concerns a “complaint letter” filed with the District on August 7, 2019, by a third party, not a party to this action, over the District’s application of its transfer policy regarding certain English-as-a-Second-Language (“ESOL”) students. The third party submitted the complaint letter pursuant to Board Policy *KE*, which provides that the Board “will consider the complaint and dispose of the matter according to its best judgment.” The letter specifically requested that the Board provide exceptions to the District’s transfer policy in the event that students participating in the District’s ESOL program wished to remain at their prior school rather than attend another school that offered ESOL services.

On August 13, 2019, the Board held a regularly-scheduled meeting at which the complaint letter was discussed in both executive session and the public session. The Board’s minutes reflect that the Board went into executive session and was provided with legal advice regarding the letter. (Rec. on App., pp. 55-57). Although the letter did not include a threat or suggestion of formal legal action, it explicitly requested changes to the District’s existing policy on transfers. For that reason, the Board received legal counsel from its General Counsel, Ms. Susan Williams, in executive session concerning potential legal issues implicated by the request. Specifically, the Board sought legal advice from Ms. Williams on the following matters:

- The Board received legal advice concerning the legality of a District agent requesting that ESOL students waive their rights to ESOL services in order to remain at A.C. Moore Elementary School, and how these actions relate legally to the complaint letter and the transfer policy.
- The Board received legal advice regarding the ways in which a response to the complaint letter would implicate student privacy, including how the requirements of state and federal statutory protections would impact the response.

(Rec. on App., p. 31).

During executive session, the Board took no actions, took no votes, and reached no decisions concerning its response to the letter in executive session. The only action the Board took in executive session was to come out of executive session.

Once the Board returned to open session, Board Chairman Devine indicated that (1) the Board members discussed the letter in executive session, and (2) he would send a response letter to the third party. (Rec. on App., pp. 55-57). After the statement by Chairman Devine, Commissioner King asked if District Policy *KE* required the Board to take a vote to dispose of the complaint letter because there was a discussion in executive session, but they could not vote in executive session. In response, Chairman Devine stated that the policy does not require a vote by the Board. Although Commissioner King voiced concerns over Chairman Devine's proposed course of action, and asked for clarification on the policy, she did not raise a point of order or move to act otherwise, such as request a vote.

On August 14, 2019, the District responded to the complaint letter. In part, the response referred the third party to answers he had received earlier from a member of the District administrative staff and Superintendent Witherspoon.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of review in a declaratory action is determined by the underlying issues. *Nationwide Mut. Ins. Co. v. Rhoden*, 398 S.C. 393, 398, 728 S.E.2d 477, 479 (2012) (citing *Felts v. Richland Cnty.*, 303 S.C. 354, 356, 400 S.E.2d 781, 782 (1991)). The interpretation of a statute is a question of law. *Sparks v. Palmetto Hardwood, Inc.*, 406 S.C. 124, 128, 750 S.E.2d 61, 63 (2013) (citing *CFRE, LLC v. Greenville Cnty. Assessor*, 395 S.C. 67, 74, 716 S.E.2d 877, 881 (2011)). This Court may interpret statutes, and therefore resolve this case, “without any deference to the court below.” *Brock v. Town of Mount Pleasant*, 415 S.C. 625, 628 (2016). (citing *CFRE*, 395 S.C. at 74, 716 S.E.2d at 881).

ARGUMENT

I. THE COURT ERRED IN FINDING APPELLANTS VIOLATED FOIA WHEN ENTERING EXECUTIVE SESSION TO DISCUSS THE COMPLAINT LETTER BECAUSE IT WAS PERMISSIBLE FOR APPELLANTS TO RECEIVE LEGAL ADVICE WITHOUT PENDING LITIGATION.

S.C. Code Ann. § 30-4-70(a) provides that a public body may have a meeting closed to the public, i.e. an executive session, for specific reasons, including the receipt of legal advice. S.C. Code Ann. § 30-4-70(a)(2). The FOIA statute also provides as follows concerning the conduct of affairs in executive session:

Before going into executive session the public agency shall vote in public on the question and when the vote is favorable, the presiding officer shall announce the specific purpose of the executive session. As used in this subsection, “specific purpose” means a description of the matter to be discussed as identified in items (1) through (5) of subsection (a) of this section. However, when the executive session is held pursuant to Sections 30-4-70(a)(1) or 30-4-70(a)(5), the identity of the individual or entity being discussed is not required to be disclosed to satisfy the requirement that the specific purpose of the executive session be stated. No action may be taken in executive session except to (a) adjourn or (b) return to public session. The members of a public body may not commit the public body to a course of action by a polling of members in executive session.

S.C. Code Ann. § 30-4-70(b).

It is perfectly permissible under this exemption for the public body to receive legal advice even where it is not actively involved in litigation. “The exemption does not require that a public body actually be engaged in litigation, only that legal advice be rendered.” *Herald Pub. Co. v. Barnwell*, 291 S.C. 4, 10, 351 S.E.2d 878, 882 (S.C. App. 1986)

In the present case, the third party complaint letter requested that the Appellants provide ESOL students with an exception to District Policy *JFABC* Student Assignments and Transfers, allowing these students who were zoned to attend a different school for the 2019-2020 school year to remain at the school they attended during the previous school year. Although this letter did not threaten legal action and legal action was not pending, the letter sought a change to the transfer

policy, and a waiver of student rights to ESOL services in order to remain at A.C. Moore Elementary School. Understandably, the Board went into executive session to receive legal advice on the numerous legal issues the letter raised.

At the hearing on the matter, the Appellants articulated the legal justification for receiving legal advice regarding the complaint letter, and the Court agreed that there was a justifiable need for legal advice. (Rec. on App., pp. 147-148, 156-157). Nevertheless, the Court's Order concluded that Appellants' rationale for using the FOIA legal advice exception was "manufactured," despite the Court's acknowledgement in the hearing on the matter that there was a legal basis and justification for the Board to receive legal advice regarding the complaint letter. Instead, the court noted that "none of the statutes which could potentially be impacted by a change in the transfer policy were cited in the response letter which undermines the presented argument of the [Appellants]." Notably, FOIA does not require that a governmental body subsequently disclose the legal advice it received in executive session, or that the advice received be readily apparent in any subsequent communications. Rather, FOIA requires that the governing body meet its statutory requirements, a standard which the Appellants meet in this case, as reflected in the meeting minutes.

For these reasons, this Court should reverse the lower court's decision that Appellants violated FOIA by discussing the letter in executive session because the record reflects the Board lawfully received legal advice regarding the complaint letter during executive session.

II. THE COURT ERRED IN CONCLUDING THAT APPELLANTS TOOK ACTION IN EXECUTIVE SESSION BECAUSE THERE IS NO EVIDENCE IN THE RECORD TO SUPPORT THIS CONCLUSION.

S.C. Code Ann. §30-4-70(b) provides in part that a public body may not take action except to adjourn or return to public session or may not commit the public body to a course of action by polling its member while in executive session. The record reflects that the Board engaged in a discussion during open session in a manner that supports the conclusion that it did not take any action, formal or otherwise, during executive session, other than voting to come out of executive session.

Specifically, minutes from the August 13, 2019 meeting establish that, while the Board had a discussion regarding the complaint letter in executive session, they did not take any action in executive session regarding the response to the complaint. During open session, Ms. King, who was also present in executive session, stated, “We can’t vote in executive session... There has been a discussion, but there needs to be action taken.” (Rec. on App., pp. 55-57).

These proceedings, conducted in open session, indicate that (1) the letter was discussed in executive session, and (2) there was no action taken on the letter in executive session. As to the discussion and action taken in open session, Mr. Devine and Ms. King may have disagreed over whether the Board must formally vote on how to respond to the complaint letter, but that matter was not subject for the Court’s review under FOIA. The Board Chairman’s decision to dispose of the matter by responding with a letter under his signature without any vote on the matter by the full Board may be appropriate (or not) under the Board’s internal procedures, but that matter is not subject to review under FOIA. In any event, because the matter was discussed in open session, and decided in open session, the Appellants did not violate the “open meeting” provisions of FOIA.

Nevertheless, in its Order, the Court concluded that Appellants violated FOIA because “to dispose of the matter requires an action by the Board. Action was taken in executive session when it could not be.” (Rec. on App., p 11). The Court’s conclusion appears to be in direct contradiction to the evidence provided in the record. As set forth above, the meeting minutes reflect a discussion during open session in which Ms. King asked for an explanation of Board Policy *KE*, which states, “the Board shall consider the complaint and dispose of the matter at the next regular meeting.” (Rec. on App, p. 55). Ms. King specifically asked for an explanation of how to dispose of the complaint and went further to ask if there had to be a vote by the Board to take action, stating that the Board merely discussed the matter in executive session. (Rec. on App., p. 55). The Court erred in making the determination that there was a violation of FOIA by making a subjective determination that to dispose of the complaint required the Board to take an unlawful act in executive session.

For these reasons, the decision of the Court should be reversed.

III. THE COURT'S DECISION TO AWARD EQUITABLE RELIEF SHOULD BE REVERSED BECAUSE IT IS EFFECTIVELY A "WRIT OF MANDAMUS."

In its decision, the Court ordered equitable relief based on its finding that the Appellants violated FOIA. Specifically, the Court ordered the Appellants to "consider the Letter complaint at their next regular meeting or special meeting and dispose of the matter according to their best judgment, in a public setting." Because the underlying finding that the Appellants violated FOIA should be reversed, the equitable relief ordered by the Court is inappropriate.

Further, the equitable relief ordered by the Court is the equivalent of a Writ of Mandamus, which requires different findings from those set forth in the Order.

A Writ of Mandamus is the highest judicial writ and is issued only when there is a specific right to be enforced, a positive duty to be performed, and no other specific remedy. *Ex parte Littlefield*, 343 S.C. 212, 540 S.E.2d 81 (2000); *Willimon v. Greenville*, 243 S.C. 82, 132 S.E.2d 169 (1963). It is a coercive writ that orders a public official to perform a **ministerial** duty. *Plum Creek Dev. Co. v. City of Conway*, 334 S.C. 30, 512 S.E.2d 106 (1999) (emphasis added). Mandamus will be issued only to compel a public official to perform a mandatory legal duty. *Redmond v. Lexington County School Dist. No. Four*, 314 S.C. 431, 445 S.E.2d 441 (1994).

To obtain a writ of mandamus requiring the performance of an act, a petitioner must show: (1) a duty to perform the act; (2) the ministerial nature of the act; (3) the petitioner's specific legal right for which discharge of the duty is necessary; and (4) a lack of any other legal remedy. *Sanford v. S. Carolina State Ethics Comm'n*, 385 S.C. 483, 494, 685 S.E.2d 600, 606, *opinion clarified*, 386 S.C. 274, 688 S.E.2d 120 (2009). When the legal right is doubtful, or the performance of duty rests in discretion, or when there is another adequate remedy, a writ of mandamus cannot rightfully be issued. *City of Rock Hill v. Thompson*, 349 S.C. 197, 200, 563 S.E.2d 101, 102 (2002) (emphasis added).

Generally, courts issue writs of mandamus to legislative bodies² only “in those extremely limited circumstances in which there is a clear constitutional or statutory mandate that the legislative body take some specified action.” See, e.g., *McMehan v. York County Council*, 281 S.C. 249, 315 S.E.2d 127 (1984); *Buchanan v. State Treasurer*, 68 S.C. 411, 47 S.E. 683 (1903); *Culbertson v. Blatt*, 194 S.C. 105 S.E.2d 218 (1940); *Attorney General Op.*, 1988 WL 485355, at *4 (S.C.A.G. Dec. 30, 1988). A School Board sits in a legislative capacity with respect to the making and changing of Board Policy. See *Cole v. Buchanan Cty. Sch. Bd.*, 504 F. Supp. 2d 81, 84 (W.D. Va. 2007), *rev’d on other grounds*, 328 F. App’x 204 (4th Cir. 2009).

Here, the issue concerns a policy of the Board that permits the Board to dispose of matters “according to its best judgment.” At very least, and by its own terms, the performance of duty rests in the discretion of the Board. Generally, a court will not disturb decisions within the discretion of a school board unless there is clear evidence of corruption, bad faith, or a clear abuse of power. *Davis v. Greenwood Sch. Dist. 50*, 365 S.C. 629, 635, 620 S.E.2d 65, 68 (2005). Review of school board decisions by the Court is limited to allow the Board the discretion necessary to carry out the duties imposed upon them. *Id.* For this reason alone, a Writ of Mandamus is not appropriate.

Further, there is no “clear constitutional or statutory mandate that the legislative body take some specified action” at issue here. Therefore, the Order’s inclusion of a directive to the Board to “consider the Letter complaint at their next regular meeting or special meeting” appears to have been in error, as it does not meet the standards required for issuance of the Writ of Mandamus.

² A School Board sits in a legislative capacity with respect to the making and changing of Board Policy. *Cole v. Buchanan Cty. Sch. Bd.*, 504 F. Supp. 2d 81, 84 (W.D. Va. 2007), *rev’d on other grounds*, 328 F. App’x 204 (4th Cir. 2009).

IV. **IN THE ALTERNATIVE, TO THE EXTENT THE COURT MADE FACTUAL DETERMINATIONS, THE CASE SHOULD BE REMANDED AS THE ACTION IS AT "LAW," AND FACTUAL DISPUTES SHOULD BE DETERMINED BY A JURY.**