THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Robert E. Hood, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2019-001624

RECEIVED

FEB 14 2020

SC Court of Appeals

Nancy Miramonti,

Respondent,

v.

Richland County School District One, a body politic and corporate; and the  
Board of Commissioners of Richland County School District One,

Appellants,

---

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT, NANCY MIRAMONTI

---

L. Cody Smith, Esq. SC Bar No.: 74477  
Jessica Clancy Crowson, Esq. SC Bar No.: 68626  
Rogers Lewis Jackson Mann & Quinn, LLC  
1901 Main Street, Suite 1200  
Columbia, SC 29201  
T: (803) 978-2832  
F: (803) 252-3653

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

## Arguments

### **I. The Circuit Court correctly held Appellants violated FOIA by improperly entering executive session and taking improper action during executive session.**

The plain reading of FOIA supports the finding that the Board's discussions of the Compliant Letter were improper and the Board's sending a response letter based on discussions in executive session was improper.

"The cardinal rule of statutory construction is to ascertain and effectuate the intent of the legislature." Hodges v. Rainey, 341 S.C. 79, 85, 533 S.E.2d 578, 581 (2000) (citations omitted). The court's place under the plain meaning rule is not to change the meaning of a clear and unambiguous statute. Id. The rules of statutory interpretation are not needed and the court has no right to impose another meaning where the statute's language is plain and unambiguous, and conveys a clear and definite meaning. In re Vincent J., 333 S.C. 233, 235, 509 S.E.2d 261, 262 (1998) (citing Paschal v. State Election Comm'n, 317 S.C. 434, 454 S.E.2d 890 (1995)). "What a legislature says in the text of a statute is considered the best evidence of the legislative intent or will. Therefore, the courts are bound to give effect to the expressed intent of the legislature." Hodges v. Rainey, 341 S.C. at 85, 533 S.E.2d at 581-582 (quoting Norman J. Singer, *Sutherland Statutory Construction* § 46.03 at 94 (5<sup>th</sup> ed. 1992)).

FOIA is codified as sections 30-4-10 to -165 in the South Carolina Code. *See* S.C. Code Ann. §§ 30-4-10 to -165 (2019). The purpose of FOIA is to protect our democratic society by ensuring that "public business be performed in an open and public manner so that citizens shall be advised of the performance of public officials and of the decisions that are reached in public activity and in the formulation of public policy." S.C. Code Ann. § 30-4-15. As such, provisions of FOIA "must be construed so as to make it possible for citizens, or their representatives, to learn and report fully the activities of their public officials at a minimum cost or delay to the persons

seeking access to public documents or meetings.” Id.

FOIA should be liberally construed to carry out the legislative purpose of guaranteeing the public reasonable access to certain activities of the government. Pope v. Wilson, 427 S.C. 377, 384-385, 831 S.E.2d 442, 446 (Ct. App. 2019). The essential purpose of FOIA is to protect the public from secret government activity. Burton, 358 S.C. at 347, 594 S.E.2d at 892. Any exemptions from the mandates of FOIA should be narrowly construed. Id., 358 S.C. at 348, 594 S.E.2d at 893.

- a. **Appellants violated FOIA by discussing the Complaint Letter in executive session as (i) the legal advice exemption did not apply; (ii) discussions in executive session extended beyond legal advice; and (iii) the Board failed to properly vote to enter executive session and announce intent to discuss the Complaint Letter.**

- (i) **The “legal advice” exemption does not apply.**

Pursuant to section 30–4–60 of the South Carolina Code, every meeting of a public body shall be open to the public unless closed pursuant to the limited exceptions enumerated in section 30-4-70 of FOIA. S.C. Code Ann. §30–4–60. Section 30-4-70(a)(2) provides that a closed meeting may be held for “the receipt of legal advice where the legal advice relates to a pending, threatened, or potential claim or other matters covered by the attorney-client privilege, settlement of legal claims, or the position of the public agency in other adversary situations involving the assertion against the agency of a claim.”

In this case, the Complaint Letter merely asks the Board to amend the District policy regarding student transfers to allow transfer applications to be submitted for students impacted by the ESOL program expansion.<sup>1</sup> The Complaint Letter was not part of any pending litigation, did

---

<sup>1</sup> Please note, Appellants assert the Complaint Letter sought a waiver of ESOL services in order to remain at A.C. Moore (Appellants’ Brief, p.8). There is nothing in the Complaint Letter that supports this assertion. Further, as

not threaten a claim against the District, did not give rise to any potential claim against the District, and was not related to any legal settlement or the position of the Board or District related to a claim. Accordingly, in narrowly construing the exemptions of FOIA, the Circuit Court correctly held that the Board violated FOIA by discussing the Complaint Letter in executive session as no closed meeting exemption applied.

Appellants contend that the Board is allowed to obtain legal advice based on the Court of Appeal's finding in Herald Pub. Co. v. Barnwell, 291 S.C. 4, 10, 351 S.E.2d 878, 882 (Ct. App. 1986) that the exemption of Section 30-4-70(a)(2) "does not require that a public body actually be engaged in litigation, only that legal advice be rendered." However, Herald Pub. Co. is distinguishable as the public body in question there was discussing an issue where "litigation was a very real possibility" and gave rise to a potential claim. Id. There is nothing in the record that suggests the issues raised in the Complaint Letter triggered any "very real possibility" of litigation.

Based on the above, in narrowly construing the legal advice exemption, the Court should affirm the Circuit Court's finding that the Board violated FOIA by discussing the Complaint Letter during executive session.

**(ii) The "legal advice" exemption does not apply to all discussions undertaken in executive session.**

As noted above, the legal advice exemption must be narrowly construed. Burton, 358 S.C. at 348, 594 S.E.2d at 893. The "Public Official's Guide to Compliance with South Carolina's Freedom of Information Act", issued May 2017 and endorsed by Governor Henry McMaster and Attorney General Alan Wilson, aptly provides that the legal advice exemption in FOIA is not intended to give rise to a "carte blanche excuse for secrecy". (S.C. Press Association, Public

---

indicated by websites referenced in the Complaint Letter, A.C. Moore is listed as an ESOL Center School and still provides ESOL services.

Official's Guide to Compliance with South Carolina's Freedom of Information Act, May 2017, available at <https://scpress.org/public-officials-guide-to-the-foia/>, P.16, comments regarding Section 30-4-70(a)(2)).

As such, even if legal advice is deemed an acceptable exemption in this case, the record shows that discussions during executive session extended beyond legal advice and violated FOIA. The meeting minutes show that during executive session there was a discussion about the Complaint Letter and "the best judgment of the Board is to send a letter to respond." (Rec. on App. p. 57; *see also*, Rec. on App. p. 162 (Video, 2:44 to 2:56)). Such discussions among Board members during executive session extend beyond receipt of legal advice, are not exempted by the legal advice exemption and are in violation of FOIA. To comply with FOIA, after legal advice is rendered, the Board should adjourn from executive session and continue any discussions about the disposition of the matter in public session.

Further, in order to protect the public from secret activity, FOIA cannot be read to allow executive session discussions by a public body under the guise of a public body receiving "any" legal advice, where such legal advice is not on point, warranted or valid. Appellants allege FOIA merely requires that a public body demonstrate legal advice was sought/obtained in order to properly discuss an issue in executive session. (Appellants' Brief, p. 8). However, in construing the legal advice exemption narrowly, a public body should be, at a minimum, required to seek relevant and valid legal advice for any executive session discussions. In this case, the response letter sent to the complainant refers to the Family Education Rights and Privacy Act (FERPA)<sup>2</sup> as a legal reason preventing any further response from the Board or District. However, the Complaint

---

<sup>2</sup> FERPA is a federal law that affords parents the right to have access to their children's education records, the right to seek to have the records amended, and the right to have some control over the disclosure of personally identifiable information from the education records. 20 U.S.C. § 1232g. The Complaint Letter request the Board's consideration of a change to the District transfer policy and in no way seeks any personal information regarding students.

Letter does not seek any personal information, or impact FERPA. As the Circuit Court noted, the Board's response letter citing FERPA "makes absolutely zero sense in any way, shape, or form . . . it might as well say, 'The elephant is purple,'" or "the sky is yellow". (Rec on App., p. 152-153). As such, the Circuit Court properly held a public body must have justifiable reasons for seeking legal advice to qualify for the legal exemption, which did not exist here.

Accordingly, the legal advice exemption is not applicable in this case and the Circuit Court's finding that the Board violated FOIA by discussing the Complaint Letter in executive session should be upheld.

- (iii) The Board failed to properly vote to enter executive session and announce intent to discuss the Complaint Letter in executive session.**

Section 30-4-70(b) of the South Carolina Code provides, in relevant part:

Before going into executive session the public agency shall vote in public on the question and when the vote is favorable, the presiding officer shall announce the specific purpose of the executive session. As used in this subsection, 'specific purpose' means a description of the matter to be discussed as identified in items (1) through (5) of subsection (a) of this section.

The Court of Appeals held in Herald Pub. Co., 291 S.C. at 12, 351 S.E.2d at 883, that FOIA provides that an executive session can only follow an open session, where the public body must vote in public to meet in executive session. Further, prior to going into executive session the presiding officer of a public body shall announce the purpose of the executive session. Id., 291 S.C. at 11, 351 S.E.2d at 883.

In this case, as shown in the Agenda, the executive session preceded the public session. Rec. on App., p. 117-119 and p. 42-82. Accordingly, the Board did not vote in public prior to entering executive session. Moreover, the Board failed to announce that the specific purpose of the executive session included discussing the Complaint Letter; there is no such announcement

evidenced by the Meeting Minutes or set forth on the Agenda. As the Board failed to publicly vote to enter executive session and failed to properly announce intent to discuss the Complaint Letter, the Board violated FOIA in discussing the Complaint Letter during executive session.

Based on the foregoing, the Circuit Court's ruling the Board violated FOIA in discussing the Complaint Letter during executive session should be affirmed as the Board failed to properly vote, in public, to go into executive session, and failed to properly specify that discussions in executive session would include the Complaint Letter.

**b. Appellants violated FOIA by taking illegal action in executive session.**

Per section 30-4-70(b) of the South Carolina Code: "No action may be taken in executive session except to (a) adjourn or (b) return to public session." Moreover, "The members of a public body may not commit the public body to a course of action by a polling of members in executive session." *Id.* Per Merriam-Webster Dictionary (2019), available at <https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/act?src=search-dict-box>, "act" is defined as "the doing of a thing", and also, "the formal product of a legislative body".

The Board violated FOIA by taking action to decide to send a response letter in executive session and to send such response letter. The record shows that during the executive session the Board discussed the Complaint Letter and decided to send a response letter to the complainant based on those discussions. Chairman Devine admitted during the Board Meeting, that the response letter was in "the best judgment of the *Board*". (Rec. on App. p. 57; *see also*, p. 162 (Video, 2:44 to 2:56) (emphasis added). Chairman Devine also noted that "*We* are going to send a letter out tomorrow . . . based on discussion *we* had in executive session." *Id.* (emphasis added). Finally, at the end of the Board's debate about the process for handling the Complaint Letter, Chairman Devine reiterated that, "*Our* best judgment is to respond to [the complainant] in

writing.” (Rec. on App. p. 58; *see also*, p. 162 (Video, 2:44 to 2:56) (emphasis added). The response letter received by the complainant is on the Board letterhead listing all Board Commissioners and signed by the Chairman of the Board. The response letter also states, “*We* are in receipt of your letter . . .”, and “*we* cannot share information . . .”. (Rec. on App. p. 120) (emphasis added).

Based on the above, the record shows that during executive session the Board improperly determined, via vote, poll or some other manner, that a response letter should be sent to the complainant, and then took action to effectuate the sending of the response letter during executive session. Accordingly, the Circuit Court correctly held that the Board took action in executive session other than adjourning or returning to public session and violated FOIA.

**II. The Circuit Court correctly declared the Board should consider the Complaint Letter in public.**

The Appellants’ assertion that the equitable relief ordered equates to a Writ of Mandamus was not raised at trial and is not properly preserved for appeal. When a trial court does not explicitly rule on an argument raised, and the appellant makes no motion to obtain a ruling, the appellate court may not address the issue. Smith v. NCCI, Inc. 369 S.C. 236,247-248, 631 S.E.2d 268, 274 (Ct. App. 2006) (rehearing denied). “It is axiomatic that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge to be preserved for appellate review.” Wilder Corp. v. Wilke, 330 S.C. 71, 76, 497 S.E.2d 731, 733 (1998). The record must show that an issue has been properly raised to the lower court. *See York v. Conway Ford, Inc.*, 325 S.C. 170, 480 S.E.2d 726 (1997) (an objection made during an off-the record conference which is not made part of the record does not preserve the question for review). If the party is not reasonably clear in his objection to the perceived error, the

party waives their right to challenge the erroneous ruling on appeal. Buist v. Buist, 410 S.C. 569, 575, 766 S.E.2d 381, 384 (2014) (citing S.C. Dep't of Transp. v. First Carolina Corp. of S.C., 372 S.C. 295, 301, 641 S.E.2d 903, 907 (2007)). “It is well settled that an issue may not be raised for the first time in a post-trial motion.” S.C. Dep't of Transp. v. First Carolina Corp. of S.C., 372 S.C. 295, 301, 641 S.E.2d 903, 907 (2007).

In this case, the Appellants did not raise the Writ of Mandamus argument at the hearing before the Circuit Court. Rather, Appellants first asserted such argument in their Rule 59(e) Motion and as such, this argument is not preserved.

In the event the Court finds this issue properly preserved, the Circuit Court’s declaration was proper under FOIA. Per section 30-4-100 of the South Carolina Code, “The court may order equitable relief as it considers appropriate.” Further, a violation of FOIA “must be considered to be an irreparable injury for which no adequate remedy at law exists.” Id. In determining Appellants violated FOIA, the Circuit Court found that relief for the Plaintiff included having the Board properly consider and discuss the Complaint Letter in public. The Circuit Court is within its right to determine such an equitable remedy.

Further, the Circuit’s Court’s equitable relief should be upheld as such would qualify as a valid Writ of Mandamus. The primary purpose of the Writ of Mandamus is to enforce an established legal right and corresponding imperative duty imposed by law. Willimon v. City of Greenville, 243 S.C. 82, 86, 132 S.E.2d 169, 170-171 (1963) (citing 55 C.J.S. Mandamus § 51, p. 85). It is not the purpose of the Writ of Mandamus to establish a legal right, but to enforce one which has already been established. Id. 243 S.C at 87. In this case, the Circuit Court was enforcing the open meeting requirements in FOIA and as such, if the Circuit Court’s ruling is deemed a Writ of Mandamus, the Writ of Mandamus should be upheld.

**III. The Circuit Court properly resolved factual issues.**

As with the above, this issue is not properly preserved. The issue was first raised in Appellants' Rule 59(e) Motion and not raised at the hearing.

Nevertheless, section 30-4-100 of the South Carolina Code provides the hearing court shall establish a scheduling order to conclude actions brought pursuant to FOIA only in the event the court is unable to make a final ruling at the initial hearing. Further, in actions at law, on appeal of a case tried without a jury, the lower court must be affirmed where there is any evidence which reasonably supports the judge's findings. Sloan v. Greenville County, 356 S.C. 531, 544, 590 S.E.2d 338, 345 (Ct. App. 2003).

In this matter, the record supports the findings of the Circuit Court as discussed more specifically herein. Accordingly, the Circuit Court should be affirmed.

## CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, this Court should deny Appellants' request to reverse the Circuit Court's Order, should not remand this action for further proceeding, and should affirm the Circuit Court's Order. In addition, this Court should award Respondent additional attorney's fees and costs related to this appeal.